My life in Edenfield, 1946-1958
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I was born on January 10th, 1946 in Jericho Hospital, Bury, though lived at 116 Market Street, Edenfield. In 1958 dad had a promotion which meant that we had to move to Leeds. This account is of my time in Edenfield before Leeds.

Edenfield
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Our house   Primary School  Chapel and Sunday School  Grandad Barlow   Grandma Taylor

Edenfield itself is a linear village built around the cotton industry of Rossendale. In the C17 it was spelt Aydenfeld and with its Norse history could mean something like ‘the land belonging to the farmstead by the river’ (Irwell). Its current population is under 2,000. It lies in the Pennines at an altitude of around 200m (660- ft) and consequently has a damp climate, which together with the plentiful supply of streams and rivers made it ideal for the cotton industry. The village and the surrounding area had been changing slowly for generations but this accelerated towards the end of the 18th century when long established farms, including Greaves Farm at Dearden Clough, gave over their land to mills. 

In my time there during the 40’s and 50’s the mills started to be on ‘short time’ (workers employed for less than a full week) due to competition from India. Eventually they all closed, with some being knocked down, and others being converted into industrial units or flats. 

The bypass shown above – marked A56 - was built in the 1960’s, so after we’d left. Before then it was all fields right down to the river Irwell and the railway at Alderbottom.
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The photo above was taken from Heycrofts behind our house. The farm buildings in the foreground are new.  The Primary School can just be seen on the right in the trees. Our house was in the middle of the row of houses above the left-hand new barn. Cousin Clive lived in the right-hand end of the row of white houses above the right-hand new barn.
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Hope View in c2010. The houses at the far end of the terrace were built first. Our house was the last one in that section, about halfway down the present row where the roof height and colour changes. In 1877, the local Co-op added further houses to the row, numbers 102 – 112, with the higher roof line.  

Mrs Wolstenholme lived next door this way, number 114, and Mr Whittaker next door the other way. Number 114 always seemed a larger house, and originally it would have been the end of the row. It was usual practice for the person building the row to live in a slightly larger house at the end, so that may be the reason.   

Cousin Roger and his wife Helen are shown outside their house at the end of the terrace where Uncle Lol (Mum’s father’s brother Lawrence) used to live.
The name of our family – Taylor – is a very common one. In 1891, Lancashire had the highest population of Taylor families, there being 41,329 families living in the county. This was about 22% of all the recorded Taylor's in the UK. It’s an occupational name originating from Old French word 'taileur', and translates as 'Cutter-out of cloth'
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When I was born (january 1945), WW2 had only just ended in Europe (September 1945) and Identity Cards were still required for all citizens. 
Dad.

My father was James Taylor who worked in Balloon Street, Manchester for the CWS in Men’s Outfitting, so that was jackets, trousers, and suits etc. At the start of the war, he volunteered for the Navy, as he said he didn’t want to fight in the army. He trained at HMS Raleigh at Torpoint, Cornwall, which was shore based.  

The two photos below must have been taken whilst he was at Torpoint, as the hats have HMS Raleigh printed on them. Once at sea, all references to the ship’s names were omitted in case they were found by the enemy.

The photo on the left has an inscription on the back – “To Florrie. With best wishes, Xmas 1940, from Jim” followed by 11 kisses.
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Following training, he joined his first ship in Belfast, the Cleopatra. 

He sailed in the convoys which formed up in Loch Ewe on the Scottish west coast, and eventually transferred to HMS Springbank - below. It was on that ship that he was torpedoed by a U-boat. 
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Here is an account of the incident –

At 02.09 hours on 27 Sep, 1941, U-201 fired the stern torpedo at a steamer in convoy HG-73 but missed, so the U-boat turned around and fired a spread of two torpedoes at the same ship at 02.11 hours. Lookouts on HMS Springbank on station in the fifth column observed a torpedo passing between her and the Leadgate in station #41, shortly before the fighter catapult ship was hit on the port side by two torpedoes about 430 miles west-southwest of Cape Clear (400 miles south west of Ireland). Most survivors from the vessel were rescued by HMS Jasmine, which went alongside to take off survivors and later scuttled her by gunfire after an attempt to sink her with depth charges failed. One officer and 31 ratings were lost. Other survivors were picked up by HMS Hibiscus, which landed them at Gibraltar and by HMS Periwinkle which landed them at Milford Haven. We’re not sure which ship dad was rescued by.

A survivor recalls - The weather was so bad that we lost a lot of people by mistiming their jump and falling between the two ships, and others by not timing their jump onto the deck of the destroyer and getting killed by the force of impact against the ship. 
This image of men falling between the two ships haunted dad all his life, and on Remembrance Sunday he would try to remember those men who didn’t make it, falling between the two ships screaming for their mothers.
Below is a photo taken at the time of HMS Springbank sinking, with men trying to jump to the ship alongside.
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He was eventually invalided out because his ears were damaged from the noise of the guns. He had hearing problems all his life, and became totally deaf in one ear, and partially in the other. In later life he suffered from Meniere’s disease which made him dizzy and sick, and whether that was due to the damage inflicted during the war is debatable.

Both of mum’s brothers, uncle Harry and uncle Arnold, as well as dad all served in the forces in WW2. Their names are on a roll of honour based in the parish church – see below.
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Dad liked sport and played both football and cricket. Below is the Edenfield cricket team. Uncle Harry is on the back row at the left, with dad next to him
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My mother was Florrie Taylor nee Barlow, who originally worked in a cotton mill in Dearden Clough, though I only remember her working as a dinner lady at Stubbins School, or in the village fish and chip shop. She was interested in amateur dramatics and played badminton.

I had one sister Lynette, or Lyn to her friends, who is 3.5 years older than me. We also had a dog called Sooty, as she was a black mongrel.
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Mum and dad knew each other as children, and went to the same Edenfield School. They would go to that school from when they started aged 4 or 5 until they left aged 14 in about 1928. The only children who didn’t were those who won a scholarship to a grammar school. There was no secondary school education in those days as we know it now: that started with the 1944 Education Act which created a tripartite system of education – Primary, Secondary, and Tertiary or College/University. We can’t find dad on here, but think that mum is on the middle row sixth from the right, with a bow in her hair.
Note the clogs with irons on them.
The photo below is from a similar time, with mum on the third row from the front, next to the left-hand end.
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This is probably the oldest photo we have of dad. He has written on the back of this photo - ‘myself and John Schofield’. Presumably dad is on the left. We don’t know who John Schofield was.
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In this photo from 1926, mum and dad would be about 12. Dad is in the centre of the middle row, and mum on the right had end of the same row. Note that clogs were still standard footwear.
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On the back of this photo dad has written – John Schofield, Mundell McDowall, (?? 1/2 cousins), Harry Pickup, Teddy Yarrow, Ernest Taylor (died ??), me [dad], 
Florence Woods, Edith Taylor, ?, Annie Bracewell, Florrie [mum], Mary Whittaker, Martha Collier, Sarah Jeffries, ?, Lena Schofield. Edenfield School 1925, 6, or 7 

Mary Whittaker (nee Parsons) was related to Charles Parsons who set up a bicycle shop in Waterfoot, Lancashire, in 1931. Eight years later he had an accident that eventually led to his blindness. At the end of the Second World War, he could not buy bicycle bags for the shop, although cotton cloth was still available. His wife and her sister Mary began to make up bags for him. This business expanded rapidly and eventually became Karrimor, an international brand no longer associated with Waterfoot.
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Mum and dad were married on the 20th of April, 1940 at Edenfield Parish Church. We don’t know why they didn’t get married in the Methodist chapel, unless mum’s family were church? 
In the photo from the left are: ?, Marjorie (mums best friend), dad, mum, grandad Barlow (mum’s father), ?, Uncle Arnold (mum’s eldest brother). This would have been just before dad went to war.
Dad has written on the back of this photo ‘outside Methodist Chapel’. This sounds like they were married at the Parish Church, and then came down to the chapel for a photo – but why?
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Dad took politics and community seriously, and in 1946 he stood as the Labour party candidate for Ramsbottom Urban District Council: he was unsuccessful. This is a press photo.
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Mum and dad in 1936 holidaying in Douglas in the IOM.
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Mum was interested in amateur dramatics, and here she is in a play called ‘None so Blind’ on the back row next to the end, wearing a hat. I think she may have been in Edenfield Amateur Dramatics Association.
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During the war (WW2) everyone had to have an ID card, and this is mum’s stamped 1943.
Below is the Taylor family tree, mainly researched by my sister Lynette.[image: image25.jpg]Aqq 2 ejhe-
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Dad was an only child. His father John Taylor, my grandad, was the manager at the Co-op in Edenfield and lived with Grandma Taylor at 55 Gincroft Lane. He died of TB in 1948, so I never knew him. I have vague recollections of seeing him on his death bed, but that’s probably a false memory as I would have only been two then.

Below is Grandad Taylor’s obituary that dad cut out of the local paper, probably the Rossendale Free Press. 

It says – “Well known in both Rawtenstall and Ramsbottom, Mr John Taylor of 55, Gincroft Lane, Edenfield, passed away on Friday of last week at the age of 68. In Sept. 1945, he retired from the managership of Edenfield Co-operative Society, a post he had held for 33 years. Starting as a boy in the grocery department at Edenfield, he was at the Ramsbottom Society for 13 years before returning to Edenfield. Associated with Market Place Methodist Chapel, he was a member of the choir for 37 years, and secretary of the financial committee until a few months ago. His wife and one son survive. A service in Market Place Chapel, preceded the interment at Edenfield Parish church yard on Tuesday. The Rev. A. E. Clucas-Moore officiated, and Mrs R. Lord was at the organ. Four members of the choir, Messrs. E. Fisher, J. Fisher, F. Astley, and J. Vause acted as bearers, Mrs. T. Wolstenholme represented the choir. Floral tributes were from wife [Grandma Taylor], son [dad], and daughter-in-law [mum] and grand-children [me and Lynette]; sister Emily and Frank [Grandad’s sister and husband]; Clare [sic] Abraham, Harry and Sally [another of Grandad’s sisters with her daughter and son-in-law] ; Mrs Ireland [Grandma’s cousin], Edith, Emily [Mrs Ireland’s daughters] and Jack, brothers and sister-in-law at Haslingden; Mr. and Mrs. J. E. Lord; Mr. and Mrs. J Farnell [Grandad Barlow’s step son]and family; Mr. J Haworth (? Brow); the Salisbury family (Bury); Edna; Mr and ? Shore and Stanley; ??? the staff Edenfield Co-operative Society; Market Place Methodist Chapel; ??? Conservative Club”.   
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Grandma Taylor’s mother – Sarah Ann Barlow, had a brother called Wallace and a sister called Alice Mary. Alice Mary married Sandy Ireland and they had four children, Edith, Emily, Wallace, Eric, and Richard. Lynette says that Edith lived down the row from us with her mother, Alice Mary who I just about remember as a very old lady. In the village the GPs were a married couple called Ford, and Eric Ireland was their driver. Why they needed a driver I don’t know: perhaps they couldn’t drive and didn’t want to?
John Taylor’s father, my great grandad was James Taylor. He married Mary Taylor and they had 8 children. For some reason, we don’t have any photos of the family. Their 7th and 8th children were twins, and Mary died giving birth. James then re-married to Mary Rothwell. 

James Taylor was born in 1846, and in the 1871 Census he was living in Bury Road with Mary, both aged 24.   He was then a coal miner. By the 1881 Census, he was residing with his wife Mary (nee Taylor) and children, at 34 Eden Grove, Edenfield.  This street was situated near the top of Bury Road where a minor road goes down to Eden Bank and is no longer in existence.  His occupation is still shown as Coal Miner and we understand that he worked a drift mine on Scout Moor, though whether for himself or someone else is unknown.  He had just enough room to crawl into the tunnel and hardly room to use a pick and shovel. He worked on his side, often in water, and used a candle for illumination. I have the hand pick that he used, and James Mitchell (Angie’s son) kindly fitted a new handle for me – see below.  

.
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In 1908, at the time of his son's wedding (John Taylor my grandad), he is shown as a general labourer. He was an official of the 'Druids' or 'Oddfellows Society' and was proud of the fact that he could read and write.  He was very industrious and used to cut men's hair and do odd jobs.  Although he never had a big wage, when he died, he left £400. [This is equivalent to about £45,000 now].  He was very straight and about 6' tall, and looked very smart in a top silk hat and frock coat.  He resided at 11 Thorn Bank, Bolton Road N. Edenfield.  He died from cancer in 1911 at his son Richard’s [Uncle Dick] house, and is buried in Shuttleworth Church Yard.

[image: image28.jpg]Collicries and abandoned coal pits on the south-east end of Scout Moor in the 1840s.




The map above was taken from ‘a History of Edenfield and District’ by John Simpson. Was one of these mines where my great grandad James Taylor worked?
The eight children were -

John, died in infancy.

Mary Alice married a Joseph Whitehead and moved to Blackpool to run a boarding house, and they had two children, John and Annie. I suppose nowadays we call them B&B.

Emily married Frank Beswick and had no children. They lived on Rochdale Road near to where Grandma Taylor ended up. Frank played a concertina which I now have. I can only ever remember seeing them in their house, and they had a reputation for frugal living, even though they were not short of money. 

Clara married Abraham Hill. I don’t remember them, but they had a son called Harry Hill who lived with his wife Sally in Waterfoot next to the river Irwell. They were considered to have money and drove a car. Mum thought them posh, or at least pretentious, always getting out the best crockery etc when visiting for tea. I can remember them bringing a cine camera to Aunt Emily’s, and showing some comedy films like Laurel and Hardy. Can’t remember whether they were silent or not. Their daughter Ann Margaret married a man called Colin Everett, and they currently live in Morecambe, having briefly lived in Arnside in the flats that were previously the Convalescent Home up Saul’s Drive.  

Richard (Uncle Dick) I don’t remember.

Then came John Taylor, dad’s dad, and my Grandad Taylor.

The last of the eight children were the twins Hannah and Mary. Hannah died at birth, and Mary lived to be five years old.

James Taylor’s first wife, Mary Taylor nee Taylor [it’s all very confusing] was the daughter of John Taylor (not that one!) who was an agricultural worker born in Musbury near Haslingden. In the 1851 census, he was living at Top ‘O th’ Lee, Shuttleworth, nr Bleakholt. In 1795, there were two farms there, one worked by Lawrence Barlow, the other by Richard Haworth, so presumably he was working at one of those. In 1860, Alexander Barlow and other Barlow family members farmed Top o’th Lee as well as running Twine Mill in Shuttleworth. In 1899, John Bradley was called up for the Boer War whilst living at Top o’th Lee. 

Visiting in 2021, there were still two buildings there, confusingly both called Top o’ the Lea (sometimes Lee). One was still a working farm, the other converted into a house with its outbuildings converted into dwellings.
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Top o’ The Lea farm
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The other Top o’ the Lea, converted into a house
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The outbuildings converted into dwellings
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This photo below shows Grandad and Grandma Taylor, date unknown. They married on 29 Aug 1908.
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Grandad Taylor at his home up Gincroft Lane.           

[image: image34.jpg]



Grandad and Grandma Taylor, possibly on holiday
[image: image35.jpg]



The Edenfield Co-op Management Committee. Grandad Taylor is in the centre at the back. 
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The Edenfield Coop building as it is today, the Coop having closed.
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Their house on Gincroft Lane
[image: image38.jpg]



Lynette, me, Clara Hill, Aunt Emily, Grandma Taylor. Possibly in 1948 or 1949 after Grandad Taylor had died. We think it’s outside the boarding house belonging to Mary Alice and Joseph Whitehead.
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From the left: Lynette, Aunt Emily, Uncle Frank in front, Grandma Taylor, Mum, me. 

Probably taken in the garden at the back of Grandma Taylor’s house. The Primitive Methodist chapel is just visible behind. Why is Lynette holding a bucket? And I look like I’ve just woken up.
Grandma Taylor was born a Parker, and her family is shown in the photo below.
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The Parker family circa 1915. From the left: 

Great Grandma Parker - Grandma’s mother Sarah Ann Barlow (dad pronounced it as Sur-an) 

Great Aunt Alison – Grandma’s sister. Her children Gladys and Margaret now live in New Zealand.

Grandma Taylor – Dad’s mother, with dad on her knee, 

Great Uncle Smith – Grandma’s brother, presumably home on leave from WW1. He had a son called Robert, who in turn had a daughter Joan who married Roy Waddington. 

Great Aunt Emily – Grandma’s other sister. She was unmarried, and had a daughter Evelyn (below). 

Evelyn on floor in front – Evelyn married Tom Young, a mill worker. They lived in Haslingden and had a son Leslie, and daughter Barbara. Barbara married Leslie Sutcliffe and they lived in Lancaster. Les was a policeman, and they retired to Morecambe, and later Bury to be near their son Brett. Les died in 2020, and Barbara still lives in Bury.  

Great Grandad Robert Parker – Grandma’s father.
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This poor-quality photo is of Robert and Sarah Ann Parker. Sarah Ann looks rather fierce, and has the same frowning look as Grandma Taylor in the previous photo with Grandad Taylor
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Grandma Taylor is on the back row second from the left, with her mother on the middle row on the left end. They all seem to be wearing the same style hat.
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This is ‘Aunt’ Anna, who was Grandma Taylor’s aunt, and so my great grandad Parkers sister. She lived in Irwell Vale.
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Dad has said that this is Wallace Barlow, uncle to Grandma Taylor.
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Dad has put on the back of the photo ‘Florrie’s cousin Martha: died in South Africa’.
Cousin Roger doesn’t know about this, but his wife Helen seems to thinks Clara mentioned relatives in America and South Africa.
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Evelyn and Tom Young, with mum on the right, taken at their home in Haslingden.
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Barbara Young on the right, with Gladys [now in NZ]
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Evelyn and Tom Young’s daughter Barbara’s wedding to Leslie Sutcliffe.
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Evelyn and Tom Young’s son Leslie on the right, with me on the left.

Sat on our front door step.
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Mum, Lynette, and me at Grandma and Grandad Taylor’s house in Gincroft Lane.

When Grandad Taylor died in 1948, Grandma Taylor moved into number 24 on Rochdale Road: a small 2 up 2 down terrace house, with an outside toilet at the end of the row. There can’t have been more than about five toilets at the end of the row, so whether there were more at the other end for the houses in the row, or whether houses shared toilets isn’t clear. I can certainly remember all outdoor toilets like this being whitewashed inside, and Grandma’s had newspaper on a nail on the back of the door for toilet paper. Hard times.

I think she used to look after me occasionally as I can remember her putting me on a potty and saying ‘tinkle tinkle’ as I weed – how embarrassing. She had no electricity in the house so all the lighting was run from industrial gas. I can remember the very delicate gas mantles that the gas light used, and the gentle hiss of the gas when the light was lit.
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Grandma Taylor’s house at 24 Rochdale Road is next to the end.
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This photo of Grandma Taylor was probably taken in her little back garden of her house on Rochdale Road, as the building behind looks like the Rostron Arms below.
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As Grandma grew older, she moved in with her sister, Aunt Alison, who lived in a back-to-back house on Haslingden Road that ran between Rawtenstall and Haslingden. A back-to-back house was one where two houses were literally joined by their backs so there was only one door, at the front of each house. It was on a slope, so the terrace at the front was on the road, with an alley through to the terrace at the back that was some way above the hillside. Access was then along a walkway. Again, there was an outside toilet, but this time along the walkway and then down a stairway. Not very good for an aging woman. 
Mum and the Barlows.

Cousin Roger has investigated the family tree back into the 1600’s, and he says that they came originally from the Haslingden Grane area, with some moving into Edenfield in the 1800’s, presumably for work.
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The Barlow family 1920’s, probably after Rosannah died in 1923, making mum about 9. From the left: Grandad Barlow – James Jediah, whose parents were John Barlow and Emily Barlow nee Whalley, Uncle Harry, Mum, Uncle Arnold, Unknown (perhaps one of Rosannah’s sisters?).
The group below are the Barlow family taken about 1920-21 outside Edenfield Wesleyan Sunday School. Cousin Roger says that the Barlow family were always Wesleyan Methodists, but his mother was parish church.
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Standing back row

Cissie [nee Barlow],  ? , Rosanna Beswick [don’t know who she is], ?,  ?, Norah Barlow, Jimmy Beswick [married to Rosanna], James Jediah Barlow.

 

Sitting front row

Bill Bromley [married to Cissie], Olive Barlow, Ellen Barlow [nee Schofield] married to Uncle Lol, Lawrence Barlow [Uncle Lol], Rosannah Barlow [nee Pickstone, mum’s real mum], with Mum standing in front of her.
Dad has written on the back of this photo ‘Florrie’s aunt’ and then added ‘a Pickstone’ indicating that she was on her mother’s side of the family.
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Mum was one of three children, having two brothers called Arnold and Harry. Her parents lived in a two up two down terraced house in Edenfield near the Coop, next to the end.
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Downstairs had a front room for ‘best’ and a living room at the back where they spent most of their time, with a kitchen porch added on. Her father was Grandad Barlow – James Jediah - who I remember as an old man sitting in a rocking chair in the back room, smoking his pipe. 

His first wife was Rosannah Pickstone and she was mum’s mother. She died when Mum was only seven, and one of her aunties offered to take mum to the USA with her as she was emigrating: she didn’t go. 
Mum’s dad re-married to Susannah Farnell nee Hawkins. She already had two sons called Roland and Jack Farnell. That meant four boys sleeping in the back bedroom, and mum sleeping in the main bedroom with her dad and step-mum. Mum said that when it was meal time, she had to stand as there wasn’t enough room for her at the table. 

When his second wife died [James Jediah had pre-deceased her], there was a big to-do over the will which mum walked away from. She received no money or belongings; everything seemingly being left to the Farnell side of the family.

Uncle Harry lived with Aunty Clara in an end terrace house down Exchange Street which led to the recreation ground which we called ‘the ‘rec’. Uncle Harry was a painter and decorator. They had two sons, cousins Brian and Roger. Brian was about 7 years old than me so we never played together. He lived with his wife Frieda in Bury, and had no children. He died in 2020. Roger was about 5 years older, so we played sometimes, and he still lives in Edenfield with his wife Helen.

Mum’s other brother was Uncle Arnold who lived with Aunty Dora down near the school in an end terrace house. He was a lorry driver. They had one son, cousin Clive, who was about 2 years older than me, so we often played together, and for some time a dog called Mickey that was the sister to our Sooty. Mickey used to throw itself at the front door when you left the house: never did know why! 
Their house backed onto a field full of old  lorries, or wagons as we called them, and they made a great place to play pretending being drivers etc. They were the cast-off vehicles from Richard Nuttall Haulage business at the end of the terrace. I can remember going for a ride with Clive in one of the lorries to a paper mill in Ramsbottom, presumably dropping off or picking up. Nuttall’s also had a farm next to the haulage business, but more of that later. Clive now lives in Knott End with his wife.
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This photo is of James Jediah Barlow and his wife Rosannah Barlow nee Pickstone, mum’s real mother.
Below are two photos of mum.
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And one with her real mum Rosannah
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Rosannah Pickstone 1842-1926, mum’s grandma. She’s shown here as the landlady of a beer house called The Horseshoe Inn in Edenfield. It was situated at the guidepost on the corner between Burnley Road and Blackburn Road – see below. Beer houses took advantage of the 1830 Sale of Beer Act that allowed houses to sell beer on or off the premises. Unbelievably, the Act was intended to reduce drunkenness.
Below is the site of the Horseshoe Inn. It later became a café, and was demolished in 1958
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A later photo of the Horseshoe Inn: now houses
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Hence it was a very different childhood to many modern family’s, in that all my grandparents, aunts, uncles, and cousins all lived within half a mile of each other, the so-called nuclear family. You couldn’t get up too much without someone noticing and telling.

We lived in the middle of a row of terraced houses called Hope Terrace, with a front room for Sundays and best, and a living room at the rear where we spent most of the time. This is where we ate and cooked, though it had a sofa for sitting. There was a coal fire, with a fender with tuffets at each end, inside one of which was kept shoe polish. As there was no bathroom as with modern houses, the toilet was outside across the yard at the rear of the house, and I have memories of walking across the yard in the middle of the night in my dressing gown and slippers. Underneath every bed was a potty, commonly called a ‘goes-under’, for having a wee. Baths were a weekly affair, with mum and dad filling a tin bath (with a hose pipe?) positioned in front of the fire. Presumably we all took it in turns, though I don’t know where I came in the pecking order.

In the yard were two outhouses, the toilet mentioned above, and the coal shed, plus the dustbins. The yard contained a sand pit when I was young.
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Playing in the back yard. I’m in the sand pit, with John Ramsbottom behind, and probably John’s younger sister Margaret on the left. I loved my little pedal car.
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Me in the tin bath in the back yard: no household paddling pools in those days.
Along the rear of the terrace was the lane that served as access for the bin men, coal men, and the rag-and-bone man with his horse and cart. I assume he collected things like old clothes, and general scrap, and served as an early form of re-cycling. Did he used to give the children sweets and gold fish? 

Most of the playing by the house was on the back lane. I remember pedalling a little metal car which I loved, and later we rode our tricycles, and later bicycles. When we were small it was also the venue for cricket with dad, at which Lynette failed to excel, though I wasn’t much better. Neither of us has been very interested in playing team sports games.
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Dad and Lynette playing cricket on the back lane, with me interrupting play on my three wheeled tricycle. The house called Windy Arbour is visible on the skyline behind.
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A good view of the back lane. I’m on the left and John Ramsbottom on the right. Note all the clothes stoops. On washing days, the lane would have been criss-crossed with washing lines.
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Me on a tricycle on the back lane. Was it my first, or a hand-me-down from Lynette?
I think we rented the house from Fred Ramsbottom who lived opposite, and sometime in the mid 50’s, mum and dad must have bought the house from him as they had an extension built on the back that contained the kitchen with a bathroom and toilet on the end. This was luxury as nightly walks across the yard were now a thing of the past. The only problem with the bathroom was that it had no heating, so in the winter it was cold.
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This is a modern day view of the extension at the rear of the house. The out buildings on the other side of the yard were knocked down to give more space. Above the extension, a window has been added. When we lived there that was the box room with no window.
Upstairs were three bedrooms, each with a small open fire, plus a box-room over the stairs. I can remember having a fire lit when I was in bed poorly. The box room was a walk-in cupboard rather than a room. Mum and dad had the large double bedroom at the front of the house, Lynette was in the small double bedroom with the box-room at the back of the house, and I had the single bedroom on the front. My room faced west and in the summer time I had difficulty getting to sleep due to the sun shining in through the curtains, and the solution was to hang a thick blanket over the curtains. In those days of course there were no duvets, only sheets and blankets. 

The views from the house were idyllic, with no houses directly in front or behind. The front looked west over to Holcombe Hill with its tower, and round to the flat top of Musbury Tor. The rear looked out onto the range of hills called Dearden Moor, but the hill directly behind us and half a mile away was known as Heycrofts.
The photo below is the view from the front across the road, though taken from outside Roger and Helen’s house. The building on the left is Mushroom House where the Kays lived. They had money, and Lynette thinks they had a maid. I can remember a fancy car, and a gymnasium with medicine balls. I played with Peter Kay, and Lynette with Patsy Kay.

To the right of Mush’ House is the gate that we walked through on the way to the woods beyond. Holcombe Tower is just off the photo to the left.
Writing in 2024, there is a proposal to build lots of houses in these fields. 
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Again, at the front of the house taken from the same place as above, though looking more to the right. The house on the right is where John Ramsbottom lived. We used to play cricket and football in the field. Below that, where the trees are now, is where we had the bonfire. The houses beyond weren’t built when we lived there: it was a small field with hens roaming freely.
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I remember this photo of me and Lynette being taken. Mum and dad had hired a professional photographer to take the photo, and he seated us like this on a seat. The picture on my tie was a transfer that gradually peeled off over the years.
School Days
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	I attended the primary school in Edenfield, which was a C of E school associated with Edenfield parish church just across the road. Opened in 1861, it replaced an earlier school situated in the church grounds. In 1951 it was granted ‘aided’ status which helped ensure it stayed open.

From 1947 – 1973 the vicar of the Parish Church was Rev Harry Wycherley Marcroft, and he lived in the vicarage down the lane by the church. We occasionally played with his son Christopher.

It was a small school with only two classes, Infants and Juniors. Each had their own class room, and the school also contained a hall, a dining room, and toilets cloakroom etc. Each also had its own playground, though they were linked.
In the modern photo above, the hall is at the front, with the Junior’s room on the right. The Infants room was at the rear of the left hand side, though the modern building has had an extension at this side.


[image: image76]
Was this the whole school? I’m in the centre in the middle row. On my right is John Ramsbottom. Duncan Hamer is next but one on my left. No idea how old I am.



[image: image77]
This was taken in the Infants playground.  
Back row: unknown teacher, ?, ?, Geoffrey Higson?, ?, ? Trevor Barnes, Christopher Marcroft, ?, unknown teacher.

Middle row from the left: Rosalyn Edmundson, Duncan Hamer, me, John Ramsbottom, unknown, Roy Tattersall.

On the front row at the right-hand end is David Slingsby, who had his legs in irons due to polio.

One of the teachers would be the head Miss Kathleen Thompson, but not sure which.

In the background is Heycrofts, and on the right just above the wall hidden in the trees is Ashworth’s house.
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This photo of me is a school photo, but no idea how old I am.

	The infant’s playground contained an air raid shelter, a hangover from WW2, with its doors and windows bricked up. Don’t forget that this was only 4 or 5 years after the end of WW2. The junior’s playground was larger, with a toilet block in one corner. We used to play cricket against a wall of the school, and if you knocked the ball over the wall into the field, it was ‘six and out, or none and in’. Not sure how we retrieved the ball.
The school was heated from a coke stove located in the cellar. When the caretaker was in there feeding the burner, we used to go in and watch, but the fumes used to get on my chest and make me cough. The stove was used to heat water which fed the large old-fashioned radiators. 
We had to drink a bottle of milk each day: I think they would be third or half pint bottles delivered in crates and left outside until we drank them. In winter when the crates were brought inside, the milk was frozen so we had to put them on the radiators to thaw out. The resultant milk was warm and I hated it as I thought it sickly. I’ve never liked warm milk since!  


	We had dinner at mid-day, it was never lunch. The food was cooked at Tottington School and transported to Edenfield in metal containers to keep the food warm. I assume both classes ate together, but not sure. Dinner ladies served the food, and we sat eight to a rectangular table. Mrs Sutcliffe supervised us with an iron rod: everything had to be eaten. I think I may have been a fussy eater, as there were many things I remember not liking and struggling to eat such as liver and kidney. I also struggled with salads as I can remember not liking raw carrot and raw cabbage. Puddings seemed to vary between rice pudding, semolina, and sago. I coped with semolina, but struggled with sago as it looked like frog spawn, and rice pudding as it had a thick burnt skin on it.
After dinner in the Infants class, we had to sit at our desks, cross our arms over each other, and rest our heads on them for a sleep. I can’t remember ever sleeping. I can remember playing in the sand pit, but not much else.
In the Juniors class, there must have been three or four years in the one room. There were two desks together, in four rows of perhaps three or four in each row? Each desk had a lift up lid, and an ink well in the corner similar to the one below.
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	One job which we took in turn was to be the ink monitor. This involved going round (each day?) with a supply of ink to pour into the ink wells. We used pens with replaceable nibs that I was always causing to cross: “Please Miss can I have another nib?” 
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Naughty boy alert! I can’t ever remember being caned, or hit with a ruler more like, but I can remember having my mouth washed out with soap, which was horrible. I assume I must have said something rude or swore, but I can still taste it to this day.

I can remember health visitors coming looking for nits, but the strongest memory is that of being immunised, probably polio? We all queued up in the hall waiting our turn, and seeing the children before us coming out holding their arms and crying. We were dreading it being our turn. 
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I remember this occasion, but not what it was. A school play perhaps?

Back row from left: unknown, Christopher Marcroft (the vicar’s son), Trevor Barnes, Duncan Hamer, Rosalyn Edmundson, John Ramsbottom, Geoffrey Higson, Robert Glavey, McDowell, unknown.

Front row from left: Unknown, unknown, me, Kathleen Earnshaw, unknown

	I don’t know whether there was a PTA or equivalent, but I can remember the school having social evenings. The parents would go into the hall for a whist drive. On each table, the winning couple moved up the room, and the losing couple down the room. The couple at the top of the room at the end of the evening won.
The children went into the Juniors classroom for a Beetle Drive. You had to throw a dice, and the resultant number enabled you to draw a part of the body. Standard rules were something like - 
6 for the body, 5 for the head, 4 for one of the two wings, 3 for one of the six legs, 2 for one of the two antennae, and 1 for one of the two eyes. You had to throw a 6 to start with the body. The winner was the first to complete a beetle, though I don’t know how the overall winner was decided.


	We occasionally had to attend the Parish Church for services, probably around Christmas. 
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The school took the Juniors to Haslingden swimming baths to learn how to swim. The pool was opened in 1936, and closed in 2013. In 2020 they were up for sale. We travelled on a [service?[ bus, and I liked to sit on the long seat at the front facing back. The baths became famous in the 1980’s as this was where Peter Adamson, who played Len Fairclough in Coronation Street, was accused of molesting two young girls in the pool. He was found innocent in the subsequent trial, but it effectively ended his acting career.
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Occasionally, we used to walk along Market Street to the playing fields to play football as part of our sports activities. The school also held Sports Day’s there.

	At the age of 11, the dreaded Eleven-Plus exam had to be sat, this being before the time of Comprehensive Schools. The exam would be used to assess whether you passed and went to the Grammar School, or failed and went to the Secondary Modern School. 
It was a cold wintry day when I caught the bus to Peel Brow School in Shuttleworth, along with lots of other pupils from the surrounding primary schools. I can’t remember anything about the exam other than sitting in a large hall and feeling uncomfortable. I do remember feeling relived but depressed when I came out. 
The results said that I and most of my friends had failed, and so we went to Haslingden Secondary Modern School. The only one of my friends who passed was John Ramsbottom, and he went onto Bacup and Rawtenstall Grammar School, the school that Lynette attended having passed her Eleven-Plus. 
To say that this event left me with a sense of failure for many years of my life is an understatement. I’m sure Grammar Schools were great for many kids and gave them a real education, but for the others…’well you’ve failed haven’t you’.



	Haslingden Secondary Modern School opened in 1915 as Haslingden Council School, with children starting there at the age of 5 and leaving aged 14. Some however became part-timers at 13 when they spent half a day at school and half in the local mill. This practice ended in the 1920’s. In 1939, this changed when it took all the town’s children from age 11, unless they were Roman Catholic. In 1944 it was again re-organised under the Education Act as a secondary modern school.

I was only at Haslingden School for one year, and part of one term, before we moved to Leeds in November 1958. I think on reflection it was a good school given its status, with its Head Clement Hill having a good reputation. I joined the first year in the top class, 1A, so that was something at least, with most of my friends from the Primary school going into lower classes. It was a co-ed school, but the boys and girls each had their own entrances and play grounds.

I caught a bus each day from Edenfield to Haslingden, which was only about three miles away. The bus passed an auction mart at Bent Gate just outside Haslingden, and coming home on some Thursdays they must have had animal auctions, as farmers would get on the bus smelling of manure. We used to call it ‘farmers day’. 

The best thing about my time there was joining the school band. Cousins Clive and Roger were both members, with Clive on trombone and Roger on cornet. Clive was also in the school orchestra playing drums. I can remember going to his house ‘to play out’ and seeing him practicing playing using knitting needles on a cake tin. For many years after school, he played in a rock band, and he later told me that it paid for his house mortgage. 
Anyway, Clive suggested that I join the school band playing trombone which I did: my first introduction to playing an instrument. Great fun, though I’m sure I never progressed much in my short time there. We rehearsed at dinner time, and I brought the trombone home to practice and show what I could do to mum and dad. The first tune that I learnt the trombone part for was Sandon, the tune to the hymn ‘Lead kindly light’.

My worst memory of my time there, apart from getting stitch whenever I had to run in the cross-country race, was needing the toilet in one of the classes. It was after morning break, and I stuck my hand up saying “Please Miss I need the toilet”, only to be told “No, you should have gone at break time”. The results were inevitable: I weed in my pants. Talk about embarrassment, but I always made sure I went to the toilet every break time after that.
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The playground at the rear of the school. In my days, the boys played on the right, with the girls on the left, separated by a fence.
Sports days were held on some playing fields on Broadway, but other than not winning anything I have no memories
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In 1975, a new school was opened on Broadway to replace both the grammar and the modern school, to form Haslingden High. The old school building was still there in 2020.
	Chapel and Sunday School



	The Methodist chapel in Edenfield played a large part in the Taylor households’ life. Methodism took hold in the district in the 1740’s, with Wesleyan Methodism meetings in 1793 taking place in a private cottage at Pinfold in Edenfield. By the 1850’s it was decided to build a separate chapel, and a site was selected just off the Market Place. It was finally opened in 1878, with room for nearly 600 people in pews, plus a Sunday School building behind. The Primitive Methodists also built a chapel on Rochdale Road, which opened in 1893. The Wesleyan chapel buildings were demolished in 1960 when they amalgamated with the Primitives.
[image: image87.jpg]The imposing frontage of the Wesleyan chapel overlooking Market Place pictured in about 1959.




We left Edenfield in 1958, so this is how it would have looked when we left.
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This is the detail of a very flimsy ‘poster’ of an event in 1909. It could have been a serviette.

The full item is below.
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Dad learnt to play the piano and the chapel organ when he was young, and certainly after the war he was the main organist, playing for the morning and evening services. As the musician, he was also part of the choir and used to go along with them on the annual choir trip.
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A choir trip, destination and location unknown. Dad is kneeling on the left.
The choir trip would be a day trip somewhere with no overnight stops. This obviously limited the range of where they could go, but dad used to say that a favourite amongst many in the choir was the Lake District. I can remember dad telling me that on some of the journeys up to the Lakes, they would stop at Ingleton for refreshments at a hotel on the Main Street that is now a Care Home.  
The photo below was of a trip to Sherwood Forest circa 1895, and was taken under the Great Oak. 
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Cousin Roger has supplied the following as to who is who: the relationships following the name are those to Annie Elton who later married Fred C. Astley. My comments are in []. 

Back row: ?, James Farnell, Lawrence Barlow [uncle Lol[, James Barlow, Alfred Worsick, Robert Pilling, John Elton - uncle, Eli Elton - father, ?, Thomas Thompson, James Beswick, Edward W Elton – brother.

Next to back row: ?, Norman H Elton - brother, John W Alty, James Thompson, ?, Emma Worsick, Jack Lord.

Next to front row: James S Alty, Rosannah Pickstone [mum’s real mum[, Mrs Roland Whittaker, ?, ?, ? Kay, Bella Kay, ?, Edith Elton – cousin, Mark Taylor – later married to Elsie Elton.  

Front row: Annie Wolstenholme – later married to Norman Elton, Elsie M Elton – sister, later married to Mark Taylor, Emily Parker [Evelyn’s mother[, ?, Alice Pilling, ?, ? ,  Annie Elton – later married to Fred C Astley.

	As well as playing for the Sunday services, he also played for the annual performance of the Messiah each December. For this, the chapel would pay for soloists drawn from the area, with the choral parts being sung by local singers. Part 1 would be performed in the afternoon, with parts 2 and 3 in the evening. Lynette and I would hand out the leaflets below in the afternoon, and then go inside and listen to the performance until we were fed up. Consequently, I became quite familiar with the opening numbers in part 1. 
For the Messiah, ‘Uncle’ Arthur used to visit. He was called Arthur Irlam [or Earlam?[, and worked with dad at the CWS. He was an interesting character who became a director for Kavanaghs toffee in later life. I wish I’d have known more about him, as I remember him once telling a story about staying in a mountain bothy with other climbers, and it sounded very exciting. Little did I know that I’d be doing something similar in later life. 
Fred Tomlinson founded the Rossendale Male Voice Choir in 1924, and held the baton for 52 years before handing over to his son, also Fred. He was made an MBE for his services to music. I can remember him coming to our house for tea and asking him for his autograph. He could have been conducting the Messiah, or it could have been on another occasion.
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METHODIST CHURCH, MARKET PLACE, EDENFIELD.

SUNDAY, DECEMBER 2nd, 1945.

HANDEL'S "MESS

AR"

Part I. Afternoon at 2-15. Parts 1l & [ll. Evening at 6-0.
Presided over by Rev. M. H. GIDDINGS.

Principals :

Soprano : Miss PHYLLIS WESTBY, L.R.AM. of Gt. Harwood.
Contralto : Madame ELIZABETH SHENTON, of Rawtenstall.
Tenor : Mr. JAMES H. VAUSE, of Edenfield.

Bass: Mr. JOHN T. KAY, of Edenfield.

Organist: Mr. J. Taylor. Conductor: Mr. J. W. Fisher.

HYMN I. PRAYER.
THE “MESSIAH"  Part |.

Overture

Recit (Tenor)

Aria (Tenor)

Chorus

Recit (Bass)

Aria (Bass)

Chorus

Recit (Alto)

Aria and Chorus
Recit (Bass)

Aria

Chorus
Pastoral Symphony
Recit (Soprano)

Recit

Recit

Chorus

Aria (Soprano)

Recit (Alto)

Aria (Alto & S()pr'mo)
Chorus :

HYMN II.

“Comfort ve”

“Every valley”

“And the glory” .
“Thus saith the Lord”
“But who may abide”
“And He shall purify”
“Behold ! a Virgin”

S QS Rom ,that tellest”
“For, behold, darkness”
“The people that walked”
“For unto us”

“There were Shepherds”
“And the Angel”

“And suddenly”

“Glory to God”

“Rejoice greatly”

“Then shall the eyes”
“He shall feed His flock”
“His yoke is easy”
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I was enrolled into the Sunday School when I was born: see above.
I don’t know what age I started going, but we used to meet in one corner of the chapel next to the vestry door. On the inside photo above, it’s on the left under the balcony by the door. Mum used to help out, but not sure who else. 
As children grew older, they moved into the school room which was a separate building behind the chapel. This had a large hall with a stage, with two separate rooms at the rear and a kitchen off one side. There may have been a balcony. We used to share the hall with older people, and we would break off into smaller groups at the side of the hall for bible teaching. I can remember going through the parable of the man, his sons, and their talents, and being confused about the relationship between the physical talents that the sons were given, and talents as in abilities. I can also remember being taught about the three-in-one, father, son and Holy Ghost, and not understand how one person could be three different things. 

At Christmas, there would be a nativity play, or similar, in the school hall, and I dreaded it as I always worried about forgetting my lines. It’s something that still concerns me when singing! 
[image: image95.jpg]Children and teachers from Market Place Methodist Sunday School in about 1950.




Second row in – Unknown lady, Clive,?, me, Duncan, David Lee on rhs end?

Third row in – Magnall twins on lhs, Lynette on rhs with hood

Fourth row in - ? Brian Ashworth
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Every Christmas, I was given a book token ‘for good attendance at Sunday School’. Taking this, we went on the bus to Rawtenstall and visited the book shop there to choose a book. It was then presented to us signed – see above.
One of the highlights of the year was the Sunday School trip. With not having a car, trips away from the village were few and far between. All trips on coaches seemed to involve Ben Barnes coach’s from Rawtenstall. I can remember going to New Brighton, and Southport – where the tide always seemed to be out and thus the sea a long way off. Possibly Lytham-St Anne’s? Not sure about Blackpool.
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We think this was Sunday School outing, but not sure where to. Mum is on the back row, second from the right. Lynette is on the row next to the back, and second from the left. Is that me on the front row on the right? 
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This is the Sunday School taking part in some kind of procession. I can’t pick out myself or Lynette.

Two events in the chapel calendar that I didn’t look forward to were the Whit Walks and the Sermons. 

Whit Walks. I think these may have been unique to the north-west, and consisted of children and adults from a church or chapel parading round their local area, usually following a brass band.  We all had to dress up in our best clothes. The band would play, and we marched along. The band would then rest their lips and just the drum would play a beat to march to. 

All the individual churches and chapels had their own walks, though in the 1930’s the Wesleyan Methodists decided to have a joint walk with the Primitives. With having separate walks, it meant that when they passed each other the bands would stop playing. I thought it all very embarrassing and silly.

By 1959, they must have thought so too as they decided on a joint walk, the reason probably being increased traffic and a fall-off in church attendance and interest
The photo below isn’t of Edenfield, but gives an idea of what it was like, with children walking holding the tapes to keep in line, and adults carrying a large banner.
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Sermons: I think these started out in the 1800’s as a day when preachers from far and wide were invited to give a sermon to the congregation, and historically were very popular.  One of the sermons was usually focused on the children. On the day, a tiered seating area was erected below the pulpit in the chapel, and covered with white linen. We walked in and sat on this ‘stage’, and sang hymns/songs. I can remember facing the chapel full of people and being shy.

One service at Christmas that I didn’t mind was probably held in the morning. All the children had to go through their stock of toys at home, and bring at least one to chapel to donate to the less well off. At some point in the service, we carried them out to the front and placed them on the cushions by the alter rail. Who actually received them I don’t know, presumably Dr Barnardo’s as it was called then, or Barnardo’s now.

	Leisure Time



	My first memories of ‘playing out’ are simply playing on the back lane, as we had no garden apart from the back yard. When I was older, we used to play in the garden of Mr. Whitaker, which was over the back lane and enclosed part of Nuttall’s field. 

An early memory was playing with John Ramsbottom and cousin Clive in the field behind the houses lower down, and we found some soot that someone had tipped there after cleaning their chimney. I don’t know why we ended up with it all over us, but it makes a lovely photo. Presumably we were told off as I don’t look very happy.
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	Another early photo taken on the back lane is this one, where I’m on the left, then ??, Clive, and Lynette. 
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As we grew older, we ranged further afield. Behind John Ramsbottom’s house were fields that stretched down to the River Irwell at Alderbottom. On the right-hand side of the field was a valley – Great Hey Clough – with a stream in the bottom. Lower down was a wood which made a great spot to play, with damming the stream a favourite. Another favourite activity, depending on the time of year, was burning the dry grass around the clough. We called it swealing, which I’ve since found out is from Middle English swelen, from Old English swelan (“to burn, be burnt up, inflame”). I’ve no idea where we got the matches from. At the head of the clough was a bit of a tip, and one day the wind got up and blew the burning grass towards the tip which ended up setting a light. We all beat a hasty retreat home as if nothing had happened.

At the end of the clough was Alderbottom with the River Irwell running along the valley bottom. Nowadays it is a clean river, but then it was heavily polluted and smelly from the various industrial units further up the Rossendale valley. Also in the valley bottom were two railway lines, one running between Bury and Rawtenstall (now the East Lancashire Railway) and the other branching off towards Haslingden. A favourite pastime was to climb up the railway embankment and onto the line where we placed pennies or half pennies. We then waited for the train to come along and see the coins flattened. I was always worried that the train might be de-railed!
I can’t remember how we came across it, but having crossed the railway line we found a way down to the river and some caves. Very exciting, but smelly from the river.
The path along the bottom of the valley going north led through a subway under the railway line. We used to stand underneath when a train came to hear the noise. The path eventually led to Irwell Vale where there was a playground with a larger slide than the one in Edenfield. One day someone had the idea that we should rub the slide with butter to make it slippier, but of course it didn’t work: it simply made it a mess. 
We would return from Irwell Vale by another subway that led up Hardsough Lane, where another friend Geoffrey Higson used to live. I always thought the lane was called Hardsoft, and could never understand why it could be hard and soft at the same time.
On nice sunny days, we liked to go ‘up Plunge. In reality this was Dearden Brook (brook - small stream - Scottish, Northern England) but everyone referred to it as Plunge, presumably after the name of Plunge Farm which was nearby. Plunge Farm was farmed by Mr. Berry, and he used to deliver our daily milk – no fridges in those days! He would come through the village on his horse and cart, and we would go out to meet him with a milk jug which he would fill from the milk churns he was carrying.  
The farm may have taken its name from the waterfall at the mill there which drove a waterwheel. By 1820 there were seven mills along Dearden Brook within the space of a mile.

We used to swim in the pool below the waterfall, but it was usually shaded by trees so it always felt cold.  
[image: image102.jpg]



Plunge waterfall, with the waterwheel pit visible top left
Above the waterfall, the bridleway known as Michael Wife Lane fords the brook, and a modern footbridge is in place for walkers - below. The unusual name is reputed to come from Mary Nuttall, wife of Michael Nuttall, who was fined in 1618 for not maintaining the road and, finally, put in the stocks in 1624 for still not carrying out the work. One would think it should be Michael’s Wife Lane, but I can remember my Grandma Taylor talking about someone and she would say for instance, Elton wife rather than Elton’s wife
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Further up the brook there is a water leat that fed the lodge that drove the above waterwheel. A lodge is what a mill pond is referred to in Lancashire. Below the water take off point is a cascade that motor bikers used to ride up during races.
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Further upstream still, the brook enters an open wooden valley, where evidence of concrete retaining structures can be seen. A few hundred yards further upstream still, there were further broken concrete structures across the brook, and some older people had built a dam to make a pool. This was our favoured place.
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Further up still, the brook becomes Scout Moor Brook, named after the hillside on the right of this photo. Scout Moor was very important historically as the main source of millstone paving stones. It had its own railway, the route of which can be seen on the hillside above. The source of the brook is Scout Moor reservoir, which lies below Waugh’s Well.
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This was built and named after the Lancashire poet Edwin Waugh 1817–1890. It was built in 1866 near to Foe Edge Farm to commemorate him where he did much of his writing. 
As well as us children roaming up there, it was also a standard walk for local families on Good Friday’s. The other walk of that kind was Holcombe Hill above Ramsbottom on the other side of the valley.
My friend Duncan Hamer lived in a house at Hollins Lane Farm, which was up the narrow road from the old Quarryman’s pub off Burnley Road. Walking up the road from there led to the lane that started as Gincroft lane. It led eventually to Balladen and Rawtenstall, but we never got as far as that, playing in the old quarry instead. 
Sometimes we would walk along the lane, and passed the house on the edge of the moor called Windy Arbour, presumably because of its exposed position. It has now been renamed as Valley View Farm. 
Sandbeds Lane was the original route to Burnley and Colne, but latterly was used to service the quarry at Cowpe Lowe, but we played around the old farm house of Sand Beds farm - below. Around the farm were old railway carriages that were used to house chickens etc, and I suppose were left over from the WW2 that had only finished less than 10 years previously. 
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Down on the farm! Whenever I smell grass being cut, I’m immediately taken back to waking up in Edenfield with that smell, and knowing that hay making had begun on Nuttall’s farm. Apart from the transport business that they ran – see later – they also ran a farm and owned the hay meadows behind the house. I have vague memories of them using horses, but I suspect that is a false memory. One memory I have is of them cutting the grass using a tractor, and me sitting on the large mudguard besides the driver. What would have happened if I’d fallen off and into the path of the cutting machine doesn’t bear thinking about. Eventually the practice was stopped and we weren’t allowed on the tractor. 
I can remember the cut grass being raked and turned my hand, but eventually they pulled machines behind the tractor to do it. When the grass had dried and became hay, it was tossed onto a hay cart. Nowadays, the hay would be bailed, or even wrapped as haylage, but in those days it was loose. 
The hay cart was then driven into the farm yard and dumped. A tractor was situated in the farm yard with one of its rear wheels removed and replaced with a wheel that drove an endless belt to take the hay up into the hay loft. Us kids then went up into the hay loft and scattered the hay that came up the endless belt around the hay loft. I used to love it. 
It was on one of these occasions that I had my first taste of beer. The men would have a break in their work, and had the pub next door deliver some beer in jugs. We sneaked into the room where it was stored and had a quick sip: I don’t think I liked it.
When we were around eleven years old, four of us joined the 38th Rossendale Scouts: me, John Ramsbottom, Duncan Hamer, and Roy Tattersall. I’m not sure whose idea it was, but Duncan’s father, Fred Hamer, was an assistant scout master so it was probably him. The troop was based in Cloughfold between Rawtenstall and Waterfoot. Each week we caught the bus to Rawtenstall, and then either another bus or a train to Cloughfold.
They were based in a school on Edge Lane, but with the addition of the ‘Warren’ which was a piece of spare land just up the road from the school where the scout hut was based and where we played wide games and practiced lighting fires etc. I really enjoyed my time there, but unfortunately had to leave when we moved over to Leeds, so only managed just over a year with them.
My first camp was a weekend in Ashworth Valley, though I’ve no idea of the location. I can remember more about the second camp as it was held at Hazelslack Farm, just half a mile from where I live now – how much of a coincidence is that! I can remember using a clay oven to bake dough twists, walking to the Fairy Steps and enjoying playing on the outcrop, and walking to Arnside.

The group covered the whole age range from cubs, to senior scouts.

In the photograph below –

Me - next row to the back, second from the left

Duncan – first row of scouts, second in from the right

John – first row of scouts, second in from the left

Roy – first row of scouts, third in from the left

Duncan’s dad is on the left with the moustache, and the scout leader, ‘Skip’ Bishop, is in front of him. I’m not sure why there is a girl in the photo
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Winter time always seemed to have lots of snow. I can remember clearing snow from the path at the front of the house into the pile of snow at the roadside. Snow on the roof would gradually slide down and eventually drop into the front garden, hopefully when no one was under it!


Sledging was great fun, and as with summers that seemed to be sunny all the time, winters always seemed to have lots of snow. The hill behind the house was known as Heycrofts, though on the map it’s referred to as Hey Meadow. We walked up to gorse bushes by a small dip, and sledged down nearly to the wall.

I can remember wearing socks on my hands as gloves: did we not have gloves?
	We didn’t have a car until just before we moved to Garforth in 1958, when dad had a promotion to being a rep based in Leeds. Hence days out were usually on public transport. The one that stays in my mind the clearest was a day out to the Lakes. 
We boarded a train somewhere, presumably bus or train to Manchester Victoria, and then a train to the Lakes. The first thing I can remember was going over the viaduct at Arnside, and being amazed by all the water passing under the train. In those days, there was a branch line from the Leven viaduct up to Lakeside, and train-to-boat excursions were advertised, especially in Lancashire. Nowadays, the Lakeside and Haverthwaite railway misses out the bit between the viaduct and Haverthwaite as the rest of the line was closed in 1967.
I think we then boarded a steamer and sailed up Windermere Lake to Ambleside. I can distinctly remember coming out of a café or restaurant on Lake Road in Ambleside (it’s now part of a block of flats) and looking up to the Fairfield horseshoe and thinking how wonderful to be up there. No idea how we travelled back from there – Lakeside or Windermere – but I can remember the train stopping in Carnforth station and asking dad why we were stopped. He said we were waiting for the Royal Mail to come through – most mail was moved and sorted in those days on trains – and then there was whoosh as it sped through the station. All very exciting for a young boy. The only thing I can remember after that was being carried up from Ewood Bridge station on dad’s shoulders: I must have been very tired and it was probably late.
We obviously had to catch the bus or train wherever we went. Sometimes it would be to Manchester. We used to look out for a church spire at Whitefield, for as you approached it up the hill, it seemed to sink down below the horizon. 

In Manchester we often used to go and see dad at work in the CWS in Balloon Street. I always thought it a strange name for a street as I never saw any balloons. I can remember waiting for the bus home by Victoria Bridge. This bridge carried traffic and people over the river Irwell and up to Exchange Station. The station was built for the LNWR – London North Western Railway – and was linked to Victoria Station by Europe's longest platform at 2,238 feet (682 m).
On Saturday afternoon’s, dad would go and watch Bury playing football if they were at home in Gigg Lane. He often used to take me with him, and when going through the turnstiles I used to duck underneath, presumably to get in for free. As I grew older and taller, that was no longer an option. Waiting for the bus home in Bury, there was often a man with braziers selling things like hot potatoes (and black puddings?)



Another day out would be to catch the bus to Clitheroe, explore the castle, and then walk down to the river for a picnic. The strongest memory I have is of mum and dad buying me a metal Fordson tractor that I still have, though one wheel is broken.
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Holidays
Apart from a wet weekend in a friend’s caravan near Arkholme, holidays fell into two periods, Whitsuntide and the main summer holiday. 

At Whitsuntide, for as long as I can remember, we went to Fleetwood.
History Lesson bit: Whitsun, also called Whitsunday, is the seventh Sunday after Easter, and hence is a movable feast as Easter also varies. Easter Sunday has become defined as the first Sunday after the ecclesiastical full moon that occurs on or soonest after 21 March, though this can also be different from the date defined by the astronomical full moon. It’s all about trying to celebrate the event at the same time all over the world irrespective of the national calendar used.
In England, Whitsun took on some characteristics of Beltane, which originated from the pagan celebration of Summer's Day, the beginning of the summer half-year, in Europe. Whitsuntide, the week following Whitsunday, was one of three vacation weeks for the medieval villein. Whit Monday, the day after Whitsun, remained a holiday in Britain until 1971 when, with effect from 1972, it was replaced with the Spring Bank Holiday on the last Monday in May. This changed it from a moveable holiday to a fixed holiday: pity they can’t do the same with Easter.

We used to go to Blackpool in the early days, but then changed to Fleetwood
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This is one of my favourite photos, and was taken outside Vernon House on Wellington Road in Blackpool, in the early 1950’s. There is still a B&B/hotel on Wellington Road, presumably the same place.
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This is another photo outside Vernon House, probably the same year as the above. I don’t know who all the other people were, presumably other guests.
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This must be around Bispham given those distinctive railings
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No prizes for guessing where this was taken – Blackpool!
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More donkey riding, Blackpool presumably.
At some point, we moved from Blackpool to Fleetwood. For many years, we stayed at Mrs Addington’s B&B on Windsor Terrace which was right opposite the pier, now dismantled. The room we used was split into two rooms: you went through the first room where Lynette and I slept in twin beds, into the second double room where mum and dad slept. My bed was next to a window, and I could just see the river Wyre between buildings. Why Lynette never claimed the bed I don’t know

At the B&B, we met with an extended family from Newhey, Milnrow, near Rochdale. They were essentially a family of sisters and their husbands, but strangely only one couple had children. Harry and Annie Davenport had two daughters Anne and Pamela. Anne was the eldest, and Pamela was about Lynette’s age, so I was the only boy and was spoiled something rotten (so Lynette says). The other couples were Harry Watma and ?, Eva and Tom, and Hilda and Selwyn. There was also an Emily.
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These are the Rochdale ladies and me. From the left:  Mum, Emily, Anne, me, Eva, ? ? Hilda.
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With the Davenport children: from the left Pamela, me, Anne, Lynette.

We all used to meet up there year and after year, and the friendship developed to the extent that we used to catch a bus from Edenfield and visit them occasionally in Newhey. I have lots of memories of playing games in one of their houses, mainly Housey-Housey (early bingo) and a form of charades. We used to go into the back room to decide what we were going to act out. We would then go into the front room, and say “We’re three cobblers out of work” and they would say “What’s your trade”. We would then act out an activity. One that stays in our memory is ‘Moving Cocky Hill’ which was a local hill, and then ‘Moving it back again’. 


Harry Davenport was a big laugh with us children. One of the activities that we did every visit to Fleetwood was catching the ferry across the River Wyre to Knott End. We then walked along the shore and back through Hackensall Woods. One year, he produced a treasure map that he said he’d found and we followed it to find some coins that he’d hidden. The main thing that stayed in my mind was that he’d drawn the map on toilet paper! A trick that I can remember him playing was saying something like “do you see that house just out of sight” and I’d say yes.

Getting to Fleetwood each year usually involved catching the train from Victoria Station in Manchester. I think the carriages didn’t have any corridors, so having a wee was a problem. The train split at Poulton-le-Fylde, one part going to Blackpool and our section going to Fleetwood. It always seemed weird when it went backwards for a short section. Some of the station names still seem familiar to me now - Poulton, Thornton-Cleveleys, Burn Naze, and Wyre Dock. Fleetwood Station closed in 1966.

Right alongside the station at Fleetwood were the docks, still busy in those times. One year an aircraft carrier (I think) moored up and people could go aboard for a look round. It’s one of my hazy memories.
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This postcard shows the pier as it was when we were there. It’s since been flattened and it’s difficult to imagine there being one there now. Knott End is in the background across the river Wyre. The Marine Gardens are to the right of the pier.
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The Marine Gardens, still there, were often the place where the adults would sit while we children went off to play.
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One of my favourite places was the Mount opposite the Marine Gardens. Downstairs was simply an open space, but upstairs there was a clock mechanism. It fascinated me with its ticking, and every quarter of an hour it would ‘whirr’ and then settle down again. I think you could walk out onto a balcony. The Mount is still there, but closed I think.
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Fleetwood was unusual in having two lighthouses. The one above was called the Upper Lighthouse, but locally known as the Pharos Lighthouse after the Pharos Lighthouse of Alexandria. It was located some 200 yards back from the sea front.

The other lighthouse, below, was located on the seafront and called the Lower, or Beach, Lighthouse. There main purpose was to act as leading lights for ships coming down the tricky Wyre River. As long as the higher – upper light – was kept in a vertical line above the lower light, the passage was safe.
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A regular attraction was Mr Bilton’s Marionettes, a family run business from the 1930’s to the 50’s. It was located near the swimming baths and I loved it. 
The men in the group must have been used to getting up early, as one of my early memories was of them getting up before breakfast and walking to the station for a paper and a cup of tea – no tea making in bedrooms in those days. Then back to the B&B for breakfast.

One of my favourite holiday places was Llandudno. Can’t remember when we first went, or how many times. We would catch the train (and change at Llandudno Junction?) right into Llandudno. 

The National Methodist Church used to run a chain of holiday homes to stay in, one of which was in Llandudno called Bodlondeb Castle, situated near the Orme Tram Station on Church Walks. It wasn’t really a castle.
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Dad has dated this post card 1956
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Built in 1898 by the Davies family, they sold it in 1931 to the Methodist Holiday Homes Ltd, who opened it as a Methodist hotel and it remained as such for many years. The Chapel building (now cottages) at the rear of the Bodlondeb Castle, Caer Salem, closed in 1934 and was purchased by the Methodist Holiday Homes to form an annexe to the hotel. In 1954, a set of modern garages were built and a Games Room was added above the garages in 1967. 

Sadly, business began to decline sharply during the early years of the 21st century, with the occupancy rate for the 20 bedrooms falling to 32%. It closed in 2005 after being on the market with a firm of specialist commercial agents for 18 months, but no firm offers approaching the £650,000 asking price were received. It was purchased by Norwest Developments/Beck Homes, who announced plans to restore the building and convert it into 8 luxury apartments. Work started in late 2005 and great care was taken to restore the original features of the building, whilst removing later additions, such as the garages and games room.
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I can remember staying in the annexe and walking up a path onto the lower slopes of the Great Orme. Also playing cards with some other children in the hexagonal/octagonal shaped window shown below.
.
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This is also dated 1956, so I would be 10. I’m on the front row 5th from the left: don’t know what I’m laughing at. Dad is kneeling down, next row to front, second from the right. Mum is third row from the front, second from the right. I can’t see Lynette, so I assume she wasn’t there?
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Another place that we stayed was the Risboro Hotel on Clement Avenue.
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I loved going on the tramway up the Great Orme, and making names using the stones in Bishops Quarry. I can’t ever remember the ancient copper mine there being open, but we used to go in the café near there. The walk down then went through Happy Valley: no ariel runways in those days.
At that time, Llandudno still had some old-world charm, typified by the department store on Mostyn Street, possibly now called Clare’s. They had a centralised till system, so when you paid at the counter, the assistant would put your money in a canister with the bill, and propelled it (by compressed air?)  along to the till. The change was then sent back the same way – it was fascinating.  
Llandudno also had a tram system running to Colwyn Bay. The line suffered from substantial damage in storms in January 1952. Although repairs were carried out, storms the next year did as much damage again. In 1954 the company applied for a licence to convert the service to motor buses. Although the local councils objected, there was little that could be done and the line closed on 24 March 1956. 
One day we must have had a day out in Colwyn Bay, and on arrival back in Llandudno dad realised he left the cricket bat on the tram. So, he had to go back to try and find it, whilst we went into Happy Valley to wait. He managed to retrieve it.
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These two photos were taken on the West Shore at Llandudno. At least one holiday was spent with the Hallam’s who lived between us and Grandma Taylor in Edenfield. I remember that they stayed in a B&B called Tyn y Maes, which I always thought sounded like Tiny Mice. Tyn of course is Gaelic for house or dwelling.

In the photo above, from left to right: dad, Lynette, mum, Lesley at the back behind me, Ethel. Presumably Ethel’s husband Geoff was taking the photo.
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Same occasion I assume, though mum has a different top on. From left to right; Kathryn, Lynette, mum, Ethel.

The only other place I can remember going to was Scarborough. We stayed in a hotel/B&B called Aldwyn on Northstead Manor Drive which ran along the top of Peasholm Park, and I can remember Lynette and I walking back from the park up a footpath onto the road. We used to spend most of our time in the North Bay, and can’t remember much about the south bay. One day we went to Scalby Mills to visit a friend of dads who worked at the CWS.
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I think I can remember this photo being taken, outside the open-air swimming pool.
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Lynette told me - It’s Scarborough, leaving South Bay to drive along Marine Drive to North Bay. The building on the right is still there, next to an amusement arcade. I’ve still got plaits so think it’s taken about 1951/2.
Peasholm Park had an artificial lake that held navel battles in the evenings recreating famous naval battles of the past such as the River Plate featuring the German heavy cruiser the Graf Spee.
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This is the water splash which I used to love. It was located across the road from Peasholm park in Northstead Manor gardens. I can also remember going to an outdoor performance of Annie Get Your Gun in this park. 
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Family Heirlooms
Being from a predominantly working class background, the family has not been blessed with expensive heirlooms, but these articles belonging to family members have come down to Lynette and I
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This bagatelle board belonged to dad. No idea when he bought it, or when it was bought for him, but I’ve found a reference to the metal balls used that says They also seem to fit most of the standard size Corinthian Bagatelles from the 1930s era, and other references quote pre-war, so that ties in with the 30’s.

It's been used over the years by all the Taylor and Parkin families. Over those years many/all of the balls have been lost, so replacement ball bearings were bought
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The slate above has the initials ‘JT’ carved into it, and we think it belonged to my grandad Taylor. It would have been used at school, and is plain on one side for drawing, with lines etched into the surface on the other side for writing. It has a small leather ‘pocket’ on the side which originally contained a slate pencil, but this has been lost.  
In the booklet Edenfield Church and School by Lynne Longworth, she says Home lessons [homework] played an important part in the children’s learning. In the late C19th this work was done on slates and returned to school the following day. It was not until the turn of the century that exercise books were used. This means that the slate probably belonged to dad’s father.
I have found references to children using slates like this as late as the 1950’s - We wrote on slates with either a soft light grey slate pencil or a hard dark grey one. The hard one would often screech across the slate which set our teeth on edge.  We carried a piece of damp rag in a tin to wipe the slate clean. The slates themselves were in a wooden frame just the size and shape of one of today's iPad. This description is exactly like the one above. Of course, because the slate had to continually wiped clean, information had to be memorised before the slate was wiped. We have the expression ‘to wipe the slate clean’ from this.
At a school in Norfolk in 1909 there must have been a proposal to change from slates to paper books, and it was reported - Mr. W. N. Ager said that at a representative meeting of over 500 teachers of Norfolk they were unanimous in condemning the proposed abolition of slates. When slates were properly employed, they were of great use. The objection of parents that children wore out their sleeves with their slates only applied to the days when the filthy habit of spitting on the slates obtained.
This cabinet used to stand in Grandma Taylor’s house, and because I used to express an interest in it, she left it to me.
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Uncle Frank was reputed to have a concertina, but we never saw it. On his death it ended up in the hands of Leslie Hallam. Leslie died recently, and his sister Kathryn acquired the concertina and gave it to me. It’s an anglo model (different note push and pull) and the makers name is Campbell & Co based in Glasgow. Research shows them to be a company that badges other makes and then sells them, so its not a noted name like Lachenal, Wheatstone, or Jeffries. It’s in a poor state or repair, with one button missing and the air button broken. At the time of writing, I don’t think its worth getting it repaired.
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